Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

1998

The State of Utah v. Kelly Ray Deboard : Brief of **Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction for Attempted Possession of a Controlled Substance, a class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (1998), in the Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah, the Honorable Michael L. Hutchings, judge, presiding. Jurisdiction is conferred on this court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996). See Addendum A (judgment and conviction).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Is Deboard's sentence invalid where the trial court sentenced him to 365 days in jail outside the presence of appointed counsel and without apprising him of his right to the presence of counsel?

Standard of Review: "[T]he determination that a defendant has intelligently waived his right to counsel 'turns 'upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused,'' the constitutionality of an accused's waiver of the right to counsel is a mixed question involving both fact and law." State v. McDonald, 922 P.2d 776, 780 (Utah App. 1996)

(quotations omitted) (citing <u>State v. Tenney</u>, 913 P.2d 750, 753 (Utah App. 1996); <u>State v. Pena</u>, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994)).

PRESERVATION OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant Kelly Ray Deboard's ("Deboard") issue is preserved on the record for appeal ("R.") at 61[3-7].

RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The following statute and constitutional provisions are determinative of the issues on appeal:

Rights of Accused, United States Const. Amend. VI (1991):

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to . . . have the Assistance of counsel for his defense.

Rights of Accused Persons, Utah Const. Art. I, § 12 (Supp. 1998):

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel.

Rights of Defendant, Utah Code Ann. § 77-1-6 (1995):

(1) In criminal prosecutions the defendant is entitled: (a) To appear in person and defend in person or by counsel.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Appellant Kelly Ray Deboard ("Deboard") was charged by information with possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine), a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 1998) and an arrest warrant was issued. R.3-5. Deboard was appointed counsel from the Salt Lake Legal Defender Association ("LDA"). R.10. On December 23, 1997, he entered a guilty plea to attempted possession of a controlled substance, a class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i). R.39.

Prior to sentencing, Deboard was appointed substitute counsel from LDA when his original attorney left that office.

R.32. The new attorney entered her appearance with the court on March 20, 1998. Id.

Meanwhile, Deboard was referred to ("AP&P") on December 23, 1997, to prepare a sentencing report. R.15. A sentencing hearing was also set for February 25, 1998. R.18. As of February 16, 1998, Deboard had not reported to AP&P. R.15. He also missed the February 25th hearing. R.19,20. An arrest warrant was issued on March 2, 1998. R.20. However, the warrant was recalled on March 12, 1998, since Deboard missed the hearing on account of a snow storm and impassable roads. R.28,61[4].

A second sentencing hearing was set for April 3, 1998.

R.29. Deboard still had not reported to AP&P as of March 25th.

R.30. He also failed to appear for the sentencing hearing and later explained that he did not receive notice of the new date.

R.61[4]. No warrant was issued upon Deboard's failure to appear at the April 3rd hearing. R.61[4-5].

The sentencing date was reset for May 13, 1998. R.33. Deboard appeared for sentencing this time, but had not met with AP&P beforehand. R.34,36. Deboard was not accompanied by his attorney and, in fact, did not know the attorney's name on account of the earlier change in counsel. R.61[3].

Even though Deboard was not accompanied by his attorney, the judge did not inform Deboard of his right to the presence of his attorney at sentencing, nor did he ascertain whether Deboard

voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently waived the right before proceeding with the hearing. R.61[3-7]. Instead, the judge immediately asked Deboard why he did not report to AP&P. R.61[3-6]. Deboard explained that he had an attorney, although he did not know her name. R.61[3]. He also explained that he had been in contact with "law enforcement" in an effort to "get these matters resolved." R.61[6].

Rather than granting a third continuance in order that Deboard may locate his attorney and meet with AP&P to finish the report, the judge sentenced Deboard to 365 days in jail.

R.39,61[6]. Deboard requested "private counsel" upon the judge's sentence. R.61[6]. Rather than honoring Deboard's request, the judge reiterated the sentence and set a review date for June 19, 1998. R.61[7]. On June 19, Deboard and his attorney appeared for the review, at which time the court suspended the remaining 300 days in jail and placed Deboard on probation for three years.

R.52-53,55. Deboard appeals from the sentence. R.56.

ARGUMENT

THE SENTENCE IMPOSED ON DEBOARD BY THE TRIAL COURT IS INVALID WHERE THE COURT IMPOSED THE SENTENCE OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF APPOINTED COUNSEL AND WITHOUT ESTABLISHING VALID WAIVER.

The trial court erred as a matter of law in sentencing

Deboard where it failed to conduct a searching colloquy that

established that Deboard was aware of his right to the presence

of his attorney or that he waived such right knowingly,

intelligently and voluntarily. Moreover, the circumstances of

the case do not evince Deboard's appreciation of his right or valid waiver thereof.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution guarantee that a criminal defendant has the right to the presence and effective assistance of counsel at all critical stages of a criminal proceeding where substantial rights may be affected, including sentencing. See Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 137, 88 S.Ct. 254, 19 L.Ed.2d 336 (1967) (right to counsel under Sixth Amendment "extends to sentencing" since substantial rights of accused are at stake) (citing Townsend v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736, 68 S.Ct. 1252, 92 L.Ed. 1690) (1948)); <u>Kuehnert v. Turner</u>, 499 P.2d 839, 840-41 (Utah 1972) (Article I Section 12 of Utah Constitution guarantees right to presence of counsel at sentencing unless defendant executes a valid waiver) (citations omitted) (see Addendum B copy of opinion); State v. Martinez, 925 P.2d 176, 178 (Utah App. 1996) (sentencing is a critical stage of criminal proceeding necessitating right to counsel); State v. Casarez, 656 P.2d 1005, 1007 (Utah 1982) (same); see also Utah Code Ann. § 77-1-6(1)(a) (1995) ("[i]n criminal prosecutions the defendant is entitled [t]o . . . defend in person or by counsel").

A defendant's right to the presence of counsel at sentencing exists on account of the particular impact that sentencing has on a defendant's liberty. As noted by the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, a defendant's "ultimate fate is [often] determined more by [sentencing] than the determination of guilt or innocence."

United States v. Salemo, 61 F.3d 214, 220-22 (3d Cir. 1995).

Hence, the presence of counsel at sentencing is "one of the most fundamental and cherished rights guaranteed by the Constitution."

Id. Moreover, it is "necessary to insure fundamental human rights of life and liberty." Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938).

Some of the pitfalls faced by a defendant at sentencing necessitating the aid of counsel include complex guidelines wherein the judge may consider any relevant information and not just the "conduct that constitutes the offense of conviction. . . . In addition, a defendant who is unfamiliar with the post conviction process may inadvertently waive a meritorious argument that he/she might otherwise have raised on appeal." Id.; see also Salemo, 61 F.3d at 220 ("sentencing is a critical and often times complicated part of the criminal process that contains subtleties which may be beyond the appreciation of the average layperson"). Hence, the aid of counsel is necessary

so that [a defendant has] a real opportunity to present to the court facts in extenuation of the offense or in explanation of the defendant's conduct, as well as to correct any errors or mistakes in reports of the defendant's past record and to appeal to the equity of the court in its administration and enforcement of penal laws.

Kuehnert, 499 P.2d at 840-41.

In light of the foregoing considerations, a sentence is sustainable on appeal only if the trial court conducts a colloquy on the record establishing that an unrepresented defendant understands his right to the presence of counsel, and that he voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently waives his right before

proceeding with sentencing. See Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 482, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981) ("waivers of counsel must not only be voluntary, but must also constitute a knowing and intelligent relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege"). Alternatively, a sentence is valid if the totality of the circumstances reflected in the record evince the defendant's knowledge of his right to counsel, as well as his voluntary and intelligent waiver thereof. Id. (waiver may be inferred from totality of circumstances). Deboard's sentence is invalid because neither a colloquy conducted by the court nor other circumstances in the record establish that he understood his right and voluntarily waived it before the judge imposed sentence.

In a case factually similar to the case at bar, the Utah Supreme Court in <u>Kuehnert</u> invalidated a sentence under Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution because the sentencing judge failed to inform the defendant of his right to an attorney, and circumstances of the case did not otherwise establish a valid waiver. 499 P.2d at 841-42. The Court reasoned that the appellant, a habeas corpus petitioner, was not accompanied by his attorney at his sentencing hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 841. Moreover, the record showed that Kuehnert was represented by an attorney when he entered his guilty plea and that "there was no entry of withdrawal of counsel prior to sentencing." <u>Id.</u> at 839. In addition, "[a]t the time of sentencing the trial court neither advised [Kuehnert] of his right to counsel nor made inquiry as to

why counsel was not present." <u>Id.</u> Rather, "the court merely queried whether it was [Kuehnert's] desire not to wait but to be sentenced immediately, to which [Kuehnert] responded affirmatively." <u>Id.</u> at 840. The court then sentenced Kuehnert. <u>Id.</u>

Based on these facts, the Utah Supreme Court reversed the sentence and remanded for a new hearing since the court neither informed Kuehnert of his right to the presence of counsel nor established waiver of such right. Id. at 840-41. The Supreme Court also noted that "since [Kuehnert] was not informed of his right to the presence of counsel, there is no ground upon which to predicate a waiver of this right." Id. at 840 (citing In re Haro, 458 P.2d 500, 506 (Ca. 1969) ("we cannot condone . . . the failure of the trial court to reinform defendant of his right to counsel when he appeared for the first time without his counsel for sentencing, nor can we countenance the trial court's failure to require defendant's waiver of his right to counsel in open court before the rendition of sentence").

In light of <u>Kuehnert</u> and the other foregoing authority,

Deboard's sentence is invalid because neither a colloquy nor

other circumstances evident from the record establish that

Deboard understood his right to the presence of an attorney, nor

intelligently, knowingly or voluntarily waived such right before

the court proceeded with the hearing.

First, like <u>Kuehnert</u>, the record is devoid of any meaningful or timely communication from the court regarding Deboard's right

to his attorney's assistance at the hearing, let alone a colloquy establishing a valid waiver. See 499 P.2d at 840-41. In informing a defendant of his right to counsel and establishing intelligent and voluntary waiver, a court is not required to carry on a "rote dialogue." Salemo, 61 F.3d at 220. Recognizing that "sentencing hearings demand much less specialized knowledge than trials," the Third Circuit Court of Appeals stated, "the inquiry at sentencing need only be tailored to that proceeding.

. . [and] need not be as exhaustive and searching as a similar inquiry [at] trial." Id. at 219.

"Nevertheless, sentencing is a critical and often times complicated part of the criminal process that contains subtleties which may be beyond the appreciation of the average layperson," wherein an unrepresented defendant may "inadvertently waive a meritorious argument," and which often times has more impact on a defendant's "ultimate fate" than the "determination of guilt" itself. Id. at 220; see supra 5-6 (discussing complexities of sentencing necessitating assistance of counsel). "Given these intricacies, it is particularly important that a sentencing court be certain that a defendant understands the perilous path he/she is going down [during] sentencing without benefit of counsel." Salemo, 61 F.3d at 220.

Accordingly, "at a minimum, a trial judge must make 'a searching inquiry sufficient to satisfy him[/her] that the defendant's waiver was understanding and voluntary, . . . [and] calculated to insure that the defendant is 'made aware of the

dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that 'he[/she] knows what he[/she] is doing and [the] choice is made with eyes wide open.''"

Id. (quoting Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45

L.Ed.2d 562 (1975) (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel.

McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 279, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268) (1942)).

Moreover, a sentencing court must "indulge in every reasonable presumption against waiver." Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 404, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977).

The following exchange demonstrates how the court proceeded to confront the unaccompanied Deboard regarding the substance of the issue underlying the court's decision to jail him, i.e. his delay in completing a presentence report, and then sentence Deboard to jail before the judge mentioned his attorney for the first time.

<u>Id.</u> at 187.

The Utah Supreme Court in State v. Frampton, 737 P.2d 183, 187 (Utah 1987), noted with regard to the defendant's right to counsel at trial that it is the court's duty to ensure that a his knowingly, intelligently waives right defendant To this end, the Frampton Court expressed a voluntarily. preference for a "colloguy on the record," as opposed to an ad hoc discourse. Id. at 187-88. Absent a colloquy, there is a greater risk that a defendant's challenge based on the right to counsel will succeed on appeal if, under the totality of the circumstances, the record does not strongly evince the defendant's "actual awareness of the risks of proceeding pro se." Id. at 188.

Generally, [a valid waiver] can only be elicited after penetrating questioning by the trial court. Therefore, a colloquy on the record between the court and the accused is the preferred method of ascertaining the validity of a waiver because it insures that defendants understand the risks of self-representation. Moreover, it is the most efficient means by which appeals may be limited.

(R.61[3])

Court: Mr. Deboard, we were to impose sentence here today and I've received a note that you have not gone over for a presentence report.

Defendant: I was -- went down and got the papers last time I left court, they said to call the number that was on the presentence report or I could just mail it in. It's supposed to be handled by Wade Smith. And I don't know who my attorney is because my other one I guess she had her last day right before my last court date, they told me that day that it was Debbie or something.

. . . .

Court: I think this is about the second time we've continued your sentencing; is that right?

Deboard: This is correct.

. . . .

(R.61[4])

Court: Let's see, so you entered a plea [on December 23] . . and failed to appear on the 25th of February [to complete the sentencing report.]

Deboard: Yeah, that's when we got snowed up in the canyon. And I had called the courts and was supposed to come in and get a court date and I thought they were going to mail me a court date.

. . . .

Court: And we set the sentencing over to . . . the 3rd of April and you didn't report for the presentence report?

Deboard: I had no idea that I was supposed to.

Court: So this would be our third (R.61[5]) continuance [if we granted your request] today?

Deboard: It would.

Court: I'm hesitant to do that. What I'm going to do is set another sentencing date but order that you be held in the county jail until I impose sentence. AP&P will come and visit you in the county jail.

Deboard: I -- is there a -- can I get private counsel?

Court: You can hire your own lawyer if you like. . . . But we have a legal defender who will represent you in the case . . . who has already contacted the clerk of the court.

Deboard: Could I speak with you about these in private?

Court: I can't speak with you in private. If you want to speak here on the record here in court.

(R.61[6])

Deboard: I've been working with law enforcement in some cases, they are supposed to have contacted you guys. I've been trying to get these matters resolved for a long time now and they have -- you know, I don't know what's going on with--

Court: Well, all I know is I haven't been contacted recently by law enforcement.

Deboard: You can talk to Detective Odor.

Court: But nonetheless, . . . this is the third time around for us. I just don't think we can do that anymore. We need to get this case resolved. . . [Y]ou haven't gone over for the presentence reports. I've ordered you to do things that you have not done and we're in a situation here where I've got to impose sentence and I have incomplete information here.

Deboard: I've really been trying to do--

Court: It's not that tough. All you have to do is go over to the presentence office . . . and then (R.61[7]) they'll tell you a time to come back and sit down and talk with them.

Deboard: The told me that I could mail my presentence report to them. I've talked to Mr. Witchman over at AP&P, he's been involved with Odor and myself and several others. I've been really trying to get this thing resolved.

Court: Well, I'm ordering you serve a term of 365 days in jail. I will review the decision which I have made on the 19th of June. . . . Thank you. [Hearing concluded].

R.61[3-7] (emphasis added).

The foregoing exchange does not amount to the sort of

searching inquiry, "calculated to insure" that Deboard's waiver was "understanding and voluntary," contemplated by Salemo and similar cases. Salemo, 61 F.3d at 220. For instance, the court never formally informed the unaccompanied Deboard of his right to the presence of counsel in the first place. In fact, the judge only mentioned Deboard's attorney after he imposed sentence and upon Deboard's contemporaneous request for "private counsel." R.61[5]. As stated in <u>Kuehnert</u>, where a defendant is "not informed of his right to the presence of counsel, there is no ground upon which to predicate a waiver of that right." 499 P.2d The same is true for the instant case -- where Deboard at 840. was not informed of his right to the presence of counsel in the first place, a valid waiver cannot be established. Consequently, the trial court erred as a matter of law in proceeding with the hearing and the sentence imposed is invalid. Id.

The trial court's error in failing to inform Deboard of his right to the presence of counsel in the first place is underscored given several warning signals that the court had indicating the need to re-inform Deboard of his right in this case. First, the very fact that Deboard appeared alone should have alerted the trial court to the necessity of informing Deboard of his right. As noted by Justice Black of the United States Supreme Court, a judge must exercise heightened sensitivity for a defendant's rights when that defendant stands alone before the court. See Von Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708,

722, 68 S.Ct. 316, 92 L.Ed. 309 (1948) ("[i]t is the solemn duty of a [] judge before whom a defendant appears without counsel to make a thorough inquiry and to take all steps necessary to insure the fullest protection of [the right to counsel]").

Additionally, the court should have been alerted to its duty given that the court knew Deboard had appointed counsel at the time of the hearing. Not only did the trial court acknowledge that Deboard had a "legal defender" after it imposed sentence, R.61[5], but Deboard himself noted at the beginning of the hearing that he had an attorney although he did not know her name. R.61[3]. Moreover, the court knew that Deboard was represented by an attorney when he entered his quilty plea and had at no time prior to sentencing moved to withdraw counsel from his case. See Kuenhert, 499 P.2d at 839 (invalidating sentence base in part on fact that sentencing court failed to inform defendant of his right to the presence of counsel even though judge knew defendant was represented when he entered guilty plea and defendant did not subsequently move to withdraw counsel prior to sentencing). Finally, Deboard's new attorney had properly entered her appearance as substitute counsel on March 23, 1998, almost two months before the sentencing hearing. R.32. In sum, the court's error in imposing sentence is underscored by foregoing, obvious warning signals highlighting the need to inform Deboard of his right to the presence of counsel at the hearing.

Even assuming that the sentencing court had at least

informed Deboard of his right to the presence of his attorney, the sentence would still fail because the exchange between the judge and Deboard is lacking in any conversation regarding Deboard's understanding of his right or indications that he knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived it. Id. at 841. As evidenced by the sentencing hearing transcript, the judge began to question Deboard about his delay in completing the sentencing report before he mentioned Deboard's attorney for the first time. R.61[3-5]. Just after the judge indicated that he would incarcerate Deboard, Deboard, of his own volition, requested "private counsel." R.61[5]. At that time, the court only mentioned that Deboard had a "legal defender who would represent you in the case." Id. The judge did not clarify on the record with Deboard that he had a right to his attorney in this hearing in particular. He likewise failed to ascertain whether Deboard understood the risks involved in proceeding without his attorney, and based on that understanding whether he voluntarily agreed to proceed without her. Where the record lacks any clarifying colloguy between Deboard and the court, the judge failed to establish a constitutionally valid waiver, rendering Deboard's sentence invalid under Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution, Kuehnert, 499 P.2d at 841, and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. See Salemo, 61 F.3d at 221 (invalidating sentence under Sixth Amendment where sentencing judge failed to establish waiver on record).

In addition to the absence of a clear colloquy, the trial

court erred as a matter of law in imposing sentence where the overall circumstances likewise fail to establish that Deboard understood his right to the presence of counsel or that he knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived such right. First, the record establishes that Deboard actually requested his attorney and never waived such right. As noted above, Deboard mentioned his attorney at the beginning of the hearing. R.61[3]. While Deboard's mention of his attorney was not an unequivocal request for her presence, under the circumstances, the judge should have been alerted to the fact that Deboard might want her assistance at the hearing and accordingly inform him of his right. In any event, Deboard unequivocally requested an attorney after the judge stated he would incarcerate Deboard. R.61[5]. At that time the judge definitely should have known to establish Deboard's knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver before sentencing him to jail.

In addition to Deboard's request for an attorney, Deboard expressed genuine alarm and was hesitant to carry on with the hearing without his attorney once the judge stated that he would place him in jail. Id. For example, Deboard seemed to lose his train of thought and began to stutter once the judge indicated that he would incarcerate him. Id.; see Salemo, 61 F.3d at 221 (invalidating sentence of unrepresented defendant in part because defendant expressed reluctance in proceeding; "defendant's apparent reluctance to proceed without counsel should have alerted the court to the need to inform [him of his right and to

establish waiver]"). These facts alone bear against any finding the court may have made that Deboard waived his right to the presence of an attorney and voluntarily proceeded without her.

The trial court's error is compounded, however, given that Deboard did not exhibit any sort of courtroom experience or education on the record that might lead the court to believe that he understood his right to counsel and yet proceeded voluntarily. See, e.g., United States v. Verkulien, 690 F.2d 648 (7th Cir. 1982) (waiver, although not explicit, established where defendant was a law student, expressed understanding of his right to counsel at sentencing, and appeared willing to proceed unrepresented); State v. McDonald, 922 P.2d 776, 783-84 (Utah App. 1996) (valid waiver of counsel at trial established where judge ascertained on the record that defendant understood charges, penalties, technicalities and rules of trial and had previously represented himself). If anything, Deboard seemed somewhat confused, albeit in earnest, about the procedure involved in completing the sentencing report. For example, Deboard was confused about his new attorney's name. R.61[3]. explained that he was in touch with "law enforcement . . . trying to get these matters resolved for sometime." R.61[6]. gave the names of particular officers who he assumed would be in contact with the court. R.61[3,7]. In fact, according to the judge, Deboard was supposed to report directly to AP&P to complete the necessary report. R.61[5-7]. Where Deboard demonstrated a lack of courtroom experience and misunderstood the procedure involved in completing the report, the trial court erred in proceeding with the sentencing hearing. <u>Cf. McDonald</u>, 922 P.2d at 783-84 (valid waiver where defendant exhibited understanding of charges and trial procedure).²

The fact that Deboard's delay in completing the report was the impetus for sentencing him to jail further underscores the court's error in this case. Given Deboard's confused approach toward completing the necessary report, the court should have been all the more sensitive to the need to ensure that Deboard understood his right to the assistance of counsel during the confrontation between Deboard and the judge. As evidenced by the record, the sum of the judge's discourse, and the reasoning behind the jail sentence, concerned Deboard's delay in completing the report. Without the benefit of counsel, Deboard did not have "a real opportunity to present to the court facts in extenuation

² Even if the judge subjectively felt that Deboard understood to the presence of counsel, appreciated right technicalities of the hearing, and voluntarily and intelligently waived such right, the sentence is nonetheless invalid since the judge did not establish his subjective beliefs on the record. noted by the Salemo Court, "[w]e appreciate that the sentencing judge (who also conducted Salemo's trial) may have felt that he had sufficient familiarity with this defendant to accept a waiver of counsel for purposes of sentencing without a searching inquiry into Salemo's familiarity with, or appreciation of, the complexities of sentencing. . . . However, we cannot infer a valid waiver of the right to counsel based upon the district court's subjective overall impression. . . . We have previously stated 'that a colloquy . . . is the preferred method of ascertaining that a waiver is knowing, voluntary and intelligent.' . . . We reiterate that 'it is appropriate for this searching inquiry to appear on the record' so as to allow a reviewing court to examine the district court's determination in the event of an appeal. . . . [F] ailure to do this requires a remand for resentencing." 61 F.3d at 221 (quotations omitted).

of . . . or in explanation of the [his] conduct, as well as to correct any errors or mistakes in reports of the defendant's past record and to appeal to the equity of the court in its administration and enforcement of penal laws." <u>Kuehnert</u>, 499
P.2d at 840-41.

As noted by the <u>Salemo</u> Court, a sentencing court need not allow itself to be "manipulated into granting a continuance." 61 F.3d at 221. Nonetheless, it is still obliged to insure that the defendant is informed of his right to the presence of counsel and executes a valid waiver before proceeding. <u>Id.</u> Indeed, the court in this case could have avoided any perceived manipulation by Deboard by simply calling Legal Defender's office. In doing so, the court could have kept Deboard in its presence and at the same time locate Deboard's attorney. In the end, Deboard's right to the presence of counsel would have been honored.

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