1998

Utah v. Kelly Ray Deboard : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant’s argument that he was denied his federal and state constitutional right to be represented by counsel at the May 13th sentencing hearing is rendered moot by the subsequent June 19th sentencing hearing at which defendant had counsel. Because defendant has already received the relief he seeks, a sentencing hearing at which he was represented by counsel, remanding this case for a new sentencing hearing will not improve defendant’s position. Indeed, a remand will only require the trial court to hold a hearing identical to the one defendant received on June 19, 1998. This Court should therefore affirm defendant’s sentence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

DEFENDANT’S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL AT SENTENCING IS MOOT BECAUSE HE WAS LATER RESENTENCED AT A HEARING IN WHICH HE WAS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

Contending that he has a federal and state constitutional right to be represented by counsel at sentencing, defendant asserts that his sentence is invalid because his attorney was not present at the May 13, 1998 hearing when the trial court committed him to 365 days in jail. Brief of Appellant [hereinafter “Br. Aplt.”] at 4-7, 21. Defendant asks this court to vacate his sentence and to remand for a new sentencing hearing with counsel present. Br. Aplt. 7-8, 22.

The State agrees with defendant that sentencing is “a critical stage in a criminal proceeding,” at which a defendant has both a federal and state constitutional right to the assistance of counsel. State v. Martinez, 925 P.2d 176, 178 (Utah App. 1996), cert. denied, 934 P.2d 652 (Utah 1997); accord Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 137, 88 S. Ct. 254, 258 (1967); State v. Casarez, 656 P.2d 1005, 1007 (Utah 1982). The State also does not dispute that defendant was unrepresented at the May 13, 1998 hearing. Nevertheless, defendant’s appeal is moot because he received the relief he now seeks on appeal at the June 19, 1998 hearing.

“An issue on appeal is considered moot when the requested judicial relief cannot

affect the rights of the litigants,”” and, in the case of a criminal conviction, there are no resulting adverse collateral legal consequences. Martinez, 925 P.2d at 177 (quoting State v. Sims, 881 P.2d 840, 841 (Utah 1994)). Here, defendant’s requested relief cannot affect his rights because, as stated, he has already received a sentencing hearing at which he had the assistance of counsel. Moreover, because the original 365-day jail sentence was replaced with a new sentence after a hearing with counsel, defendant cannot show any adverse collateral legal consequences from not having counsel at the May 13th hearing.

This Court addressed the mootness of the right to counsel at sentencing in a nearly identical situation in State v. Martinez, 925 P.2d 176 (Utah App. 1996). In that case, the defendant’s court-appointed counsel successfully moved to withdraw at the beginning of the sentencing hearing. Id. at 177. After allowing defense counsel to withdraw, the trial court committed the defendant to the custody of the Department of Corrections for a 60-day diagnostic evaluation. Id. The court set a new sentencing hearing for two months later. Id. The defendant appeared at the second sentencing hearing with new court-appointed counsel. Id. At that time, both defendant and her attorney addressed the court and both were afforded a full opportunity to present mitigating evidence before imposition of the sentence. Id.

Martinez challenged her sentence on appeal, arguing that she had been denied her constitutional right to the assistance of counsel at the first hearing when the court had ordered the 60-day diagnostic evaluation. Id. Like defendant here, Martinez asked this Court to vacate her sentence and to remand for a new sentencing hearing at which she could be

represented by counsel. Id. This Court refused because Martinez had already received her requested relief when the trial court afforded her a second sentencing hearing with counsel present. Id. The Court recognized that it could not put Martinez in a better position because she had already completed the 60-day evaluation ordered by the trial court at the first hearing and because she was represented by counsel at the second hearing. Id. The Court noted that Martinez had not suffered any adverse collateral legal consequences and observed that if it did remand for a new sentencing hearing, it “would be requiring the court to conduct another hearing identical to the [second] hearing.” Id. The Court therefore concluded that defendant’s claim was moot.³

As in Martinez, granting defendant a remand in this case will not place him in a better position. Although defense counsel was not present when the trial court sentenced defendant

³The Martinez Court also acknowledged that an exception to the mootness doctrine sometimes exists when an issue, although technically moot as to a particular litigant, “is likely to recur in a similar manner, and, because of the brief time any one person is affected, would otherwise likely escape judicial review.” Martinez, 925 P.2d at 177 (quoting Wickham v. Fisher, 629 P.2d 896, 899 (Utah 1981)). The Court concluded that this exception did not apply in Martinez because “the unique facts in the instant case present a situation that is unlikely to recur in a similar manner. In addition, it is well settled that sentencing is a critical stage in a criminal proceeding and that defendants have a right to counsel during sentencing.” Id. at 178. Although this case is evidence that these “unique facts” can recur, this case nevertheless presents a sufficiently peculiar situation that makes a common recurrence unlikely. Moreover, as this Court stated in Martinez, the underlying legal issue, that a defendant has a constitutional right to the assistance of counsel at a sentencing hearing, is well settled. Also, the defendants in both Martinez and this case were afforded the relief they sought soon after the alleged constitutional violation and long before their cases were heard on appeal. Under these circumstances, neither could show any prejudice. See id. at 177.

to 365 days in jail, the trial court resentenced defendant only one month later at a hearing in which defense counsel was present (R. 39, 53, 55, 61:3-7). Presumably, both defendant and his counsel were then given an opportunity to present mitigating evidence and to argue for a more lenient sentence.⁴

Significantly, defendant has not alleged on appeal that the trial court abused its discretion in imposing the final sentence of 300 days of suspended jail time and three years probation or that his sentence was otherwise unfair. Indeed, defendant appealed only from the original commitment order and not from the second sentence ordering probation. Defendant also does not explain what better result he could achieve on remand. Thus, if this Court were to vacate defendant's sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing, it would only be requiring the trial court to hold another hearing identical to the June 19th hearing. See Martinez, 925 P.2d at 177.

In short, defendant simply has not shown how his requested relief would affect his position or that the May 13th hearing resulted in any adverse collateral legal consequences

⁴It is unknown exactly what transpired at the June 19, 1998 hearing as defendant has not provided a transcript of that hearing on appeal. In the absence of record evidence to the contrary, an appellate court presumes the regularity of the proceedings. State v. Linden, 761 P.2d 1386, 1388 (Utah 1988) (per curiam); State v. Robbins, 709 P.2d 771, 773 (Utah 1985). Defendant has not challenged the fairness of the June 19th hearing or asserted that he or his attorney were denied an opportunity to be heard. Indeed, defendant practically ignores the June 19th hearing, referring to it only in passing in his fact statement. Br. Aplt. 4. In any event, given that the trial court imposed a more lenient sentence after the second hearing, it would appear that defendant and his counsel were given an opportunity to fully, and successfully, argue defendant's position.

to him. Defendant's appeal, therefore, is moot.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests the Court to affirm defendant's sentence.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLISHED OPINION NOT REQUESTED

The State does not believe that oral argument or a published opinion would be helpful because this case does not present any substantial or novel questions and appears to be controlled by this Court's prior opinion in State v. Martinez, 925 P.2d 176 (Utah App. 1996).